
m 1. Drawing by Simon Frisius after Hendrick Hondius (I), of  
the view of the Binnenhof and the Hofvijver in 1621, including 
the extension on the Buitenhof side and the wall of the  
Prinsentuin (Rijksmuseum Amsterdam, originally three  
drawings; here a combination of the middle and right sheets, 
adapted by the author)
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north-western side of the Binnenhof was occupied by 
the stadholders. However, at the end of the century the 
ground floor was also used by the Council of Holland, 
the predecessor of the States of Holland. 
 This article describes the spatial development of the 
Stadholder’s Quarter through the centuries. This 
includes the extensions built during the period of the 
Republic (1588-1795), which eventually took in the 
entire west side of the Binnenhof. Central to this story 
is the power struggle between the stadholders and the 
States of Holland, which is reflected in the design and 
layout of the buildings and has never previously been 
presented in this way. The starting point was provided 
by the existing literature on the Binnenhof, together 

In the middle of the fourteenth century a ‘knight’s 
house’ made its appearance in the northwest corner of 
the Binnenhof.1 It consisted of a western Buitenhof 
wing and a northern Hofvijver wing. The latter 
adjoined the Court Chapel (1289), which separated this 
complex from the count’s residence on the eastern 
side. From the middle of the fifteenth century this 

VESTIGES OF STADHOLDERS 
RESIDING AND RULING IN THE WESTERN SECTION 

OF THE BINNENHOF
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2.  Detail drawing from 1598 attributed to Claes Jansz Visscher, superimposed on the existing basement situation; in grey the possi-
bly late medieval sections of wall (Cultural Heritage Agency, adapted by author)
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follow the evolution of the Stadholder’s Quarters from 
the construction of the late medieval knight’s house 
all the way through to the new buildings added in the 
1960s, a development in which an important role was 
played by the stadholders and the States of Holland, 
who managed to leave their mark on the complex over 
a long period of time. The successive building phases 
referred to in the text are represented on a plan of the 
complex on page 60 (fig. 12).

with building archaeological studies recently carried 
out for the Central Government Real Estate Agency in 
preparation for the current renovation.2 These studies 
were hampered by the fact that the buildings were still 
in use during the investigation and – due in part to 
earlier renovations – were partially clamped and plas-
tered over. Nevertheless, by combining building his-
tory data with visual, map and archival materials it 
proved possible to reconstruct a more nuanced picture 
of the building history than we had hitherto had.3 We 



3b. The Middenpoort (later Stadhouderspoort)  
from c. 1530-1540 as it currently stands in the  
garden of the Rijksmuseum in Amsterdam. The 
present gateway in The Hague is a copy from  
1879-1880 (author’s photo, 2018)

3A. Detail of one of the corbels of the Middenpoort, 
on the side a grooved band motif (the ‘slashes’)  
(author’s photo, 2108)

49

poort occurred that time. Its architecture, with both 
late gothic crockets and corbels with Renaissance 
grooved band ornamentation, can be dated to around 
1530-1540 (fig. 3).8

PRINCE MAURITS
In 1585 Prince Maurits (1567-1625) was designated 
stadholder of Holland and Zeeland. He was the first 
member of the House of Orange to take up residence in 
the Binnenhof. The old knight’s house did not meet 
the prince’s requirements and so in around 1592 the 
States of Holland and West Friesland commissioned 
the building of a new tower house. Construction com-
menced in 1598, or a few years earlier, and in 1604 this 
‘new structure’ was fitted out (fig. 1).9 The tower has six 
floors: a basement, ground floor and four upper floors. 
It is likely that the old masonry of the knight’s house 
was used for the basement and even part of the ground 
floor. One consequence of this is the slightly trapezoi-
dal floor plan. Maurits was set on a tower house, not so 
much from a defensive standpoint, but more as an 
indication of status. With its massive square but-
tresses and, unusually for that time, a flat roof – as 
belvedere – it certainly fulfilled that function.10 On the 

MEDIEVAL REMAINS
The earliest depictions of the Binnenhof show in its 
northwest corner a large building with several stories 
and a roof, above a basement that manifests as a lower 
ground floor seen from the artificial lake known as the 
Hofvijver.4 On the east side were two volumes beneath 
a saddle roof and an interconnecting section adjoin-
ing the Court Chapel: the Hofvijver Wing. The left vol-
ume, which had two Flemish facades, is thought to 
have been added in 1520 as a kitchen with storerooms.5 
On the other side of the corner building was another 
wing with stepped gables that projected above the roof 
and, at ground level, an opening in the form of the 
Middenpoort gate: the Buitenhof Wing. A comparison 
of a 1598 drawing of this complex viewed from the 
Hofvijver with the current floor plan indicates the pos-
sible presence of parts of the fourteenth-century walls 
(fig. 2).6 Large bricks discovered here support this 
date.7

 In 1522 Charles V appointed Antoine I of Lalaing 
(1480-1540) stadholder of Holland and Zeeland. After 
the looting of The Hague by Maarten van Rossum in 
1528, the stadholder was instructed to restore order. It 
is possible that the decision to renovate the Midden-



4. Claes Jansz Visser (II), drawing of the Binnenhof on the occasion of the beheading of Johan van Oldenbarnevelt  
(Rijksmuseum Amsterdam)
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Years’ Truce (1609-1621) the tension between Maurits 
and Van Oldenbarneveldt escalated. Following a con-
flict in 1618 Maurits had his adversary arrested and 
condemned to death. On 13 May 1619, Van Olden-
barneveldt was duly executed on the Binnenhof (fig. 4).
 As a result of this act the power struggle between the 
stadholder and the States had for the time being 
worked out in the prince’s favour, but spatially they 
were condemned to one another. As in the knight’s 
house, part of the ground floor of the new tower was 
used by the States of Holland, along with several other 

Binnenhof side the Mauritstoren (Maurits’ Tower) had 
an octagonal stair tower and a timber gallery.
 Maurits saw himself as the successor of the Counts 
of Holland stadholders. The States of Holland took a 
different view. In 1581 they had assumed the legislative 
powers of Filips II and saw themselves as ‘ruling as a 
count’ to whom the title to the buildings in the Bin-
nenhof and the immediate surroundings belonged. 
The States were presided over by the government pros-
ecutor.11 Since 1586 that office had been filled by Johan 
van Oldenbarnevelt (1547-1619). During the Twelve 
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FREDERIK HENDRIK
In 1625 Maurits died and was succeeded by his half-
brother Frederik Hendrik (1584-1647), who had recently 
married Amalia van Solms (1602-1675). Hendrik was 
keen to confirm his standing in Europe and to this end 
built a number of large country houses, including Huis 
ten Bosch (1645-1651). He renewed the stadholders’ 
claim to the Binnenhof and commissioned several 
alterations to the Hofvijver wing and also had an 
apartment for his wife built on the Court Chapel side. 
In 1632 he extended the Mauritstoren on the Hofvijver 

official bodies such as the Representative Councils 
and the Secretariat of Holland. The upper floors were 
occupied by Maurits and his family. Two years after 
inheriting the title Prince of Orange in 1618, Maurits 
sought to improve his accommodation.12 In 1620-1621, 
there arose next to and to the south of the section con-
taining the Middenpoort (thereafter known as Stad-
houderspoort) a new wing totalling nine bays (fig. 3 
and fig. 12, building phase 4). On the Binnenhof side 
the new wing had a gallery of blue and grey stone.13



5. Valentijn Klotz, drawing of the Binnenhof in 1694, with the cabinet of Mary Stuart in the avant-corps on the second floor (The 
Hague Image Library)
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old timber gallery. This new section consisted of a two-
room apartment above the pre-existing kitchen and on 
the Binnenhof side a cabinet in a corner avant-corps 
(fig. 5).17 On 20 February 1644 fire broke out in this new 
apartment destroying a large part of the adjoining 
Court Chapel but causing little damage to the apart-
ment itself.
 After Willem II became stadholder in 1647, he held 
his receptions in the Stadholder’s Quarters, probably 
in the living rooms on the Buitenhof side. Owing to his 
sudden death on 5 November 1650 he spent little time 
there. Eight days later his son Willem III (1650-1702) 
was born. Amalia van Solms moved to the Oude Hof on 
Noordeinde, but Mary Stuart, the ‘Princess Royal’, 
remained living in her apartment with cabinet in the 
corner avant-corps right up until her death in 1660.

FIRST STADHOLDERLESS PERIOD
The death of Willem II ushered in the first stadholder-
less period (1650-1672). The States of Holland and West 
Friesland seized the opportunity to increase their 

side. The stair in the inner angle between the two 
wings was also built at this time. According to the 
writer G.G. Calkoen, this was a new ‘perron’ (set of 
entrance steps) up to the second floor, but it is more 
likely to have concerned a minor modification.14

 In early 1635 two fires broke out in the Mauritstoren 
in quick succession, after which the northern annexe 
was enlarged and renovated in 1635-1637 (fig. 12, build-
ing phase 5).15 After the renovations, Frederik Hendrik 
had a suite of rooms on the first floor of the Buitenhof 
Wing, consisting of a cabinet, two antechambers and a 
reception room. Amalia’s apartment on the floor above 
consisted of a cabinet, cloakroom, two antechambers 
and a bedroom. In 1639-1640 the buildings between 
the Mauritstoren and the Court Chapel were modified 
for their son, the future Willem II (1626-1650), who wed 
Mary Stuart (1631-1660) in 1641.16 The cabinet she 
would use after her arrival in 1642 was part of a new 
section next to the the Court Chapel side, work on 
which had commenced in 1632. It was linked to the 
new stone gallery commissioned in 1639 to replace the 



6. The Hof van Albermarle, 
built on the Buitenhof c. 1690 
and renovated c. 1730. Left the 
southwestern corner of the  
new Stadholder’s Quarters  
and in the foreground the 
square where the Prinsentuin 
had previously been located, 
shortly before demolition in 
1915 (The Hague Image Library)

53

STADHOLDER/KING WILLEM III
After 1672 the balance of power shifted in favour of the 
stadholder once more. In June of that year the Republic 
was attacked simultaneously by England, France and 
the bishoprics of Munster and Cologne. The States 
appointed Willem III (1650-1702) captain-general for 
the duration of a single campaign. Once all the enemy 
troops had withdrawn from the country in late 1673, 
Willem III was finally appointed stadholder. In 1677 he 
married Mary II Stuart (1662-1695). The couple would 
not have been frequent residents of the Binnenhof, 
spending most of their time in their palaces in Buren, 
Dieren, Breda and Honselaarsdijk. Nonetheless, like 
his predecessors, Willem III considered it of great 
political importance to consolidate his status in the 
Binnenhof. 
 In 1678, in compensation for the lost space on the 
Hofvijver side, the Buitenhof Wing was extended by 
four bays, making a total of thirteen bays on that side 
(fig. 12, building phase 7). The extension entailed a 
ground-floor kitchen with a basement below and on 
the upper floor private rooms consisting of a bedroom 
with cabinet. These rooms matched the existing lay-
out: on the first floor for the prince and on the second 
for his wife.20 What remained of the original rooms in 
the Hofvijver Wing were still accessible via the gallery 
on the Binnenhof.21

 Owing to his obligations in England following the 
Glorious Revolution of 1688, Willem was not a regular 
resident of the Binnenhof until after 1691. Following 
the death of Mary II Stuart in early 1965, he had a man-

influence, both in the Republic and in the Binnenhof. 
In July 1651 they resolved that the position of stad-
holder would no longer be hereditary, and that no new 
stadholder would be appointed. Two months later 
they requested a ‘more appropriate and distinguished’ 
assembly room.18 On 3 October 1651 the States of Hol-
land took the decision to build a new assembly room. 
To make a statement, they deliberately chose to build 
between the Mauritstoren and the quarters of the 
Princess Royal, retaining the gallery on the Binnenhof 
but demolishing a section of the recently (1639) real-
ized part of the apartment above the kitchen. 
 The plans envisaged a prominent building with a 
‘certain projection’ on the Hofvijver side, for which 
part of the Stadholder’s Quarters would be sacrificed. 
Johan de Witt (1625-1672), a member of the building 
committee, presented the first plans on 3 February 
1652 and it was on this basis that the architect Pieter 
Post (1608-1669) set to work. Construction, which com-
menced in June 1652, was from the outset under the 
supervision of Pieter Arentsz. Noorwits (c. 1612-1669). 
The structural work, which made use of existing 
load-bearing walls, was completed in 1655 and that 
date was carved into the door to the large hall. A cham-
ber for the executive council of the States of Holland 
(now Noenzaal) was created on the ground floor and 
on the floor above a double-height assembly room for 
the States of Holland, flanked by a staircase and ante-
chamber (now a refreshment room) (fig. 12, building 
phase 6). The finishing and fitting out of the new build-
ing took a further twelve years.19



7. Reconstruction of the Binnenhof buildings before the renovation in 1777, based on data from 1619. In the southeast corner (top) 
the inscription ‘Keuken of Garde-manger [kitchen or larder] van het Hof 1777’ and left of that ‘Huis en Erf in 1777 aangekocht van 
Van Sanden, was verhuurd aan Gezusters Bonnet’ [house and land purchased in 1777 from Van Sanden, previously leased to sisters 
Bonnet] (possibly used as a coffee house). The source and maker of this drawing are unknown (Cultural Heritage Agency)

stadholder of the Republic. In 1734 he married Anna 
van Hannover (1709-1759). The couple moved into the 
Buitenhof wing in late 1747 but found the quarters on 
the small side for their royal household, numbering 53 
individuals, and their entire staff, totalling 183.24 
Instead they were given the use of the Hof van Albe-
marle.25 Entertaining took place in the mansion 
belonging to Willem Bentinck (1704-1774) at number 7 
Lange Voorhout. The neglected official residence was 
surveyed in 1747.26 
 In 1748, the architect Pieter de Swart (1709-1772/3) 
was asked to draw up a plan for rehabilitating the ‘oude 
krogt’ (old ruin). He produced a large-scale and a mod-
est renovation plan, as well as a plan for an entirely 
new building. In all three plans the Buitenhof side  
was to be transformed into a French palace. The Stad-

sion built on the southern edge of the Prinsentuin for 
his favourite, Arnold Joost van Keppel (1670-1718), 1st 
Earl of Albemarle, thenceforth known as the Hof van 
Albemarle (fig. 6).22

WILLEM IV
The death of Willem III in 1702 ushered in the second 
stadholderless period during which the stadholder’s 
rooms remained empty. The States of Holland used 
the ground floor of the Buitenhof wing for accounting 
and secretarial services.23 In 1747, just as in 1672, the 
threat from French troops (War of the Austrian Succes-
sion) prompted the appointment of a member of the 
House of Orange – Willem IV (1711-1751) – as cap-
tain-general of the United Provinces of the Nether-
lands. That same year he was proclaimed hereditary 
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mentioned corridor, with a facade fronting the Buiten-
hof; and a service wing (the Cingelhuis) south of the 
Beek.32 The water was overarched at that point and the 
toilets were located above this vaulting. To compen-
sate the demolition of spaces previously used by the 
States of Holland, the latter seized the opportunity to 
realize a new building a little further on: a new Comp-
toir-Generaal (money office) was built east of the Hof-
poort in 1777. 
 Pieter de Swart having died in 1772 or early 1773, a 
new architect, Friedrich Ludwig Gunckel (1743-1835) 
was engaged to oversee the construction of the new 
Stadholder’s Quarters.33 He had been involved in the 
renovation of the Court Chapel (1770-1772) as De 
Swart’s assistant. There are three known sets of design 
drawings for the new Stadholder’s Quarters.34 The first 
contains only unbuilt designs; the second, from 1777, 
is a further elaboration of those designs, including the 
apartment for the stadholder in the angle between the 
old and new Stadholder’s Quarters (fig. 8). The third set 
is mainly interior designs but includes a drawing of 
the final situation shortly after 1789 (fig. 9). Earlier 
drawings show a second stair on the overarching, but 
in this plan the stair plus a small cabinet has been 
moved slightly southwards over the Beek. In this draw-
ing we can also see the kitchen extension that was 
added at the last moment. Shortly after construction 
commenced an ensemble of three small houses 
Hofsingel, with a common facade and roof, were pur-
chased and added to the complex (fig. 10). The stad-
holder’s apartment occupied the site of the long gal-
lery demolished in 1780, while the service wing was 
built on the site of the original service wing of the Hof 
van Albemarle (fig. 11).
 The new Stadholder’s Quarters comprised on the 
ground floor left a main guardhouse and behind those 
storerooms. In the right-hand avant-corps was a vesti-
bule and access to the main staircase. On the main 
floor there was a ‘large room’ (ballroom) on the court-
yard side and at the front the large dining room flanked 
on the right by a small dining room. Both avant-corps 
contained antechambers (on the right the Second 
Antechamber). The rear wing, in the Cingelhuis, 
housed the most important members of the royal 
household, including the house steward and the Lord 
Chamberlain.
 As already noted, the apartment of the stadholder, 
with basement and (service) entrance onto the Buiten-
hof, was built on the west side. On the ground floor 
there were rooms either side of a central corridor. This 
was probably where the stadholder’s chamberlain 
lived. This corridor led via a right-angled turn to the 
Hof van Albemarle and had a toilet midway above the 
overarching of the Beek. It was the mirror image of  
the toilet extension in the formal section of the new 

houderspoort would disappear in favour of a new 
ground-floor passageway. The staircase in the inner 
angle of the courtyard would become a secondary 
stair, while a large new ceremonial staircase was con-
ceived in the middle of the long Binnenhof wing.27 
Willem IV’s untimely death in 1751 meant that none of 
the plans could proceed. Anna van Hannover, who 
continued to live in the Stadholder’s Quarters until her 
death in 1759, was in charge of affairs of state. During 
her regency De Swart was commissioned to design a 
new stadholder’s staircase in the inner angle of the 
Binnenhof. It was built in 1752-1753 and exists to this 
day (fig. 12, building phase 9).28

 In 1766 Willem V (1748-1806) came of age and a new 
dining room was created for him.29 A year later he mar-
ried Wilhelmina van Pruisen (1751-1820). Her recep-
tion room on the second floor acquired a new stucco 
ceiling in around 1770, which would be dismantled 
again in 1879. 

NEW-BUILD FOR WILLEM V
Where his father had failed, Willem V succeeded. On 
27 July 1776, the States of Holland decided to commis-
sion new Stadholder’s Quarters to be built in the 
southwest corner of the Binnenhof. There, in the mid-
dle of the southern perimeter was a gateway with a 
bridge over a moat known as the ‘Beek’ (Brook). The 
gateway had originally been called the south gate or 
‘cokenpoirte’ (‘kitchen gate’), later the Hofpoort. In 
that corner of the Binnenhof, in addition to a brick 
kitchen building, there were a number of more or less 
detached buildings, including a coffee house (fig. 7). 
Various administrative functions of the States, such as 
that of Collector General, were accommodated on the 
ground floor of the Binnenhof wing and in some of the 
free-standing buildings. 
 Before the new buildings could be realized, space 
had first to be created. The States had already decided 
back in 1765 to build the Government Printing House 
to the west of the Hofpoort, which occurred a year later 
(fig. 12, building phase 9). Building archaeological 
research has shown that the old buildings from the 
mid-seventeenth century were not completely demol-
ished at that time but were combined behind a new 
facade on the Binnenhof.30

 In 1776 the coffee house on the Binnenhof was pur-
chased.31 The new Stadholder’s Quarters were situated 
between the existing connecting corridor (long room) 
between the old Stadholder’s Quarters of 1678 and the 
Hof van Albemarle, and the recently built Government 
Printing House on the east side. The new complex con-
sisted of three sections: a volume for formal receptions 
with a ballroom and richly ornamented stone facade 
fronting the Binnenhof, on the newly vacant plot; an 
apartment for the stadholder on the site of the afore-



8. Plan of the ground,  
first and second floors  

of the stadholder’s  
apartment with cor-

responding floor joists.  
It is evident that the 

apartment on the right 
has a corridor to the toilet 

above the Beek. North is 
left (Cultural Heritage 

Agency)
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9. Plan of the first floor as built, probably shortly after 1789. The kitchen extension is top left, the cabinet on the right above the 
Beek with adjoining small staircase, and bottom right the stadholder’s apartment (main floor). North is at the bottom (Cultural 
Heritage Agency)
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new building of the Stadholder’s Quarters’.36 In 1789 
‘both dining rooms and the cabinets next to the ball-
room and behind the large dining room … [were still in 
need of] floors, ceilings, plastering, painting and gild-
ing’. The new Stadholder’s Quarters were not com-
pleted until 1792.37

NEGLECTED AND RESTORED
Stadholder Willem V did not get to enjoy his new quar-
ters for very long. On 18 January 1795, in the face of 
rapidly advancing French forces, he fled to England 
and life in exile. In April 1796 the ballroom was fitted 
out as the meeting room of the Batavian Republic. In 
1806 the Kingdom of Holland was created with Louis 
Napoleon (1778-1846) as its king. The former ballroom 

Stadholder’s Quarters on the other side of the over-
arched Beek (fig. 11b). On the main floor of the apart-
ment there was the First Antechamber on the north 
side with adjoining room for the bodyguard, a cabinet 
for the brigadier and a pouring room. The second floor, 
with a portal, two front rooms and a bedroom, was 
connected with the eastern apartment in the formal 
section. Together these two sections probably con-
tained the private quarters of the stadholder.
 On 25 February 1777 the plans were sufficiently 
advanced for the first tender to be issued.35 A good 
three months later there followed tenders for carpen-
try, brickwork, stonemasonry, plumbing and painting. 
In 1782 a plan was drawn up for the ‘decoration of the 
halls and rooms for the layout of the main floor of the 



10. Plan from 1789 of  
the kitchen extension 

showing ground, first and 
second floors. The ash 

sheds on the ground floor 
have arched openings  
on the Hofsingel side. 

(Cultural Heritage  
Agency)
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11A. Combination drawing of the situation on the first floor before the renovation in 1777  
(Cultural Heritage Agency, adapted by author)

11b. Combination drawing of the situation on the first floor in 1789  
(Cultural Heritage Agency, adapted by author)

59



12. First floor (main floor) of the western part of the Binnenhof in 2022, before the current  
renovation commenced (Central Government Real Estate Agency and BiermanHenket,  
adapted by author)

60



B
U

L
L

E
T

IN
 K

N
O

B
 2

0
2

2
  • 4

61

Court Chapel. In fact, little remained of this interme-
diary section apart from the cabinet of Mary Stuart 
(Princess Royal). The gallery along the Binnenhof was 
radically restored (which is to say, rebuilt in its old 
form).43 During the next renovation of the Binnenhof 
in 1913-1915, the 1881 staircase to the east of the Staten-
zaal was replaced by the current ceremonial hall at 
first floor level (fig. 12, building phase 14).44 Equally 
radical was the demolition in 1915 of the Hof van Albe-
marle to make way for a traffic corridor between 
Buitenhof and Spui.45 The resulting ragged edge in the 
southwest corner was not repaired until the construc-
tion of the Kortenhorst wing in 1960-1963 (fig. 12, 
building phase 15).

CONCLUSION
The last word on the history of the Binnenhof has not 
been written. New and relevant details will continue to 
emerge, including during the current renovation. 
During those works, additional building history and 
archaeological research will be carried out. The results 
of past building history research have been compared 
with the known historical data in words and images, 
whereby historical drawings and plans of the current 
situation were digitally superimposed to elucidate the 
spatial development of the complex. 
 This article focuses on the Stadholder’s Quarters, 
part of which was appropriated by the States of Hol-
land during the first stadholderless period as their 
own new meeting chamber. The stadholders were later 
compensated with an extension southwards where 
eventually wholly new – though briefly used – Stad-
holder’s Quarters were realized. Interestingly, the 
stadholder’s 1814 ballroom housed the directly elected 
House of Representatives until 1992, whereas the 
meeting chamber of the States of Holland has since 
1849 been the home of the indirectly elected Senate. 
Somehow it feels as if it should have been the other way 
around.46

served as throne room, but not for long. After just two 
years Louis Napoleon took up residence in the town 
hall of Amsterdam, known ever since as the Palace on 
the Dam. On 11 May 1808 a royal decree ordered that 
‘all unnecessary ornaments be removed from the pal-
ace’, meaning the new Stadholder’s Quarters. ‘Unnec-
essary ornaments’ was taken to mean all mirrors, 
marble chimney pieces, painted canvases, decora-
tions, panelling, doors, blinds and wall coverings. 
Some of these interior elements were used to furnish 
the Palace on the Dam, some were put in storage.38 The 
new Stadholder’s Quarters were turned into a school 
for military cadets.
 Following the departure of the French in 1813, King 
Willem I (the son of stadholder Willem V) decided not 
to live at the Binnenhof anymore. But so as not to lose 
all his influence there, he established his King’s Office 
in the Binnenhof.39 The buildings in the Stadholder’s 
Quarters were in a deplorable condition. The first 
alterations were carried out in 1818 under the supervi-
sion of the Controller of National Buildings, Adrianus 
J. Noordendorp (1780-1833). In 1828 the ballroom was 
altered by installing a drum with skylight in the mid-
dle of the roof.40

 The Stadholder’s Quarters were in an even worse 
state. A few repairs were carried out at the beginning of 
the nineteenth century, but to little effect. In 1848 it 
was rumoured that the Buitenhof wing would be 
demolished and replaced by a new administrative cen-
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wonder that the Buitenhof wing still exists. The situa-
tion was marginally better on the Hofvijver side, not 
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1848 members of the Senate were ap-
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were elected by the Provincial Council. 
See also Smit 2015 (noot 39).
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In anticipation of the current major restoration of the 
Binnenhof, the home of the Dutch parliament, build-
ing historians conducted research into this historical-
ly important complex of buildings in The Hague. This 
article focuses on the western part of the complex and 
the role played there by the stadholder and the States of 
Holland. In the northwest corner of the Binnenhof, an 
L-shaped Knights’ House arose in the middle of the 
fourteenth century with a residence for the stadholder 
on the first floor while the ground floor was used by the 
States of Holland.

In 1585 Prince Maurits took up residence in this part 
of the Binnenhof and to underline his status had a  
tower built on the northwest corner (completed 1604). 
Later he had his accommodation expanded (1620-
1621). His successor Frederik Hendrik further expand-
ed the accommodation with an extruded corner con-
taining private quarters for his son William’s wife 
(Mary Stuart). With the death of William II in 1650, the 
first stadholderless period (1650-1672) began. The 
States of Holland seized on this opportunity to rein-
force their claim to the buildings by demolishing part 
of the recent expansion on the Hofvijver side and build-
ing a prominent new meeting place.

As a consequence of the war with the French in 1672, 
William III became stadholder and to compensate for 
the lost space he commissioned an expansion of the 

VESTIGES OF STADHOLDERS
RESIDING AND RULING IN THE WESTERN SECTION OF THE BINNENHOF

ROnALd stenVeRt 

complex on the south side (1677-1678). After the death 
of his wife Mary II Stuart, he had a stately house built 
for his favourite, the 1st Earl of Albemarle, on the south 
edge of the Prinsentuin in circa 1695. William’s death 
in 1702 ushered in the second stadholderless period 
until the threat of war in 1747 led to the appointment of 
William IV as stadholder. At this point the accommo-
dation at the Binnenhof was deemed to be too small for 
the court and plans for a new palace were drawn up. 

What his father had been unable to achieve, William V 
accomplished. Existing buildings in the southwest  
corner made way for new stadholder quarters, but not 
until the States of Holland had built a new Comp-
toir-Generaal (money office) a little further away in 
1777. In 1779 work on new quarters commenced. They 
consisted of a representative section in the Binnenhof, 
an apartment for the stadholder with an entrance on 
the Buitenhof and a service wing – the Cingelhuis – on 
the south side. The latter replaced the service wing of 
the Court of Albemarle. The new accommo dation was 
finished by 1792, but just three years later William V 
was forced into exile, after which the newly formed Bat-
avian Republic turned the ballroom into a meeting 
room, which served as the chamber of the House of 
Representatives from 1814 to 1992. The chamber of the 
States of Holland has been in use by the Senate since 
1849.




